IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S248046

v.

J.F.,

FILED

Defendant and Petitioner.

SEP 2 4 2018

SUPREME COURT

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D071733 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD204096 The Honorable David J. Danielsen, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Michelle D. Peña, SBN 303744
3830 Valley Centre Dr., Ste. 705, PMB 706
San Diego, CA 92130
(858) 275-3822
mdplaw@outlook.com
Attorney for Petitioner, J.F.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Per the order of this Court dated July 9, 2018, the issue to be briefed is:

Must a commitment or recommitment as an mentally disordered offender be vacated if the underlying offense supporting the initial commitment is redesignated as a misdemeanor under Proposition 47?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant and Petitioner, J.F., (hereinafter "Petitioner") addresses the combined effect of two statutory schemes: the Mentally Disordered Offender ("MDO") Act and the felony resentencing portion of The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act ("Proposition 47"). (Penal Code¹, §§ 1170.18, 2960, et seq.; Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, pp. 70-74 ("Guide"); Cal. Const., art. II, § 10.)

Petitioner's commitment was continued under the MDO Act despite the fact the court redesignated his foundational felony to a misdemeanor at an uncontested Proposition 47 hearing. (*People v. Foster* (Feb. 27, 2018, D071733) [nonpub. opn.] pp. 5, 9 2018 LEXIS 1261 ("*J.F.*") review granted Jun. 13, 2018, briefing ordered Jul. 9, 2018, S248046.) When challenged on appeal, the Court of Appeal followed its previous holding in *People v. Goodrich* (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 699, in which it found the foundational felony was "irrelevant" at the recommitment stage. (*People v. Goodrich* (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 699, 710 [review den. Apr. 12, 2017, S240242].) This decision allowed recommitment based on a mental disorder and dangerousness alone. (*Id.* at p. 711.) It also abrogated the purposes of both the MDO Act and Proposition 47. The Court of Appeal's

All subsequent statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

reason for extending Petitioner's commitment sounds more like the basis for commitment under a statutory scheme like the Lanterman-Petris-Short ("LPS") Act, which does not require a felony conviction for commitment. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 5000, et seq.)

The MDO Act only supports commitment to treat a mental disorder as it relates to a felony conviction. (§ 2960, et seq.) And Proposition 47 was intended to reduce felonies to misdemeanors "for all purposes," which this Court concluded includes all penalties unless specifically excluded. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10; § 1170.18, subd. (k); *People v. Buycks* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 857, 888 ("*Buycks*").) Commitments are not specifically excluded. (See § 1170.18, subd. (k).) What's more, the Legislature expanded the benefits of Proposition 47 to include people found Not Guilty by Reason of Insanity ("NGI's") who are only subject to commitments. (§§ 1026.5, 1170.18, subds. (k) & (p), 1170.127.)

The reasoning in *Goodrich* is unsound. It is predicated on a static-dynamic dichotomy that is no longer valid in Petitioner's case in light of Proposition 47. Proposition 47 demonstrated that "conviction of a felony" is not a "static" event or criterion. The static-dynamic dichotomy analysis underlying *Goodrich* is no longer valid in cases like Petitioner's in which the felony conviction has been redesignated a misdemeanor "for all purposes." Therefore, *Goodrich* should be disapproved.

Further, Petitioner's right to equal protection was violated. The commitment for a similarly situated person under the Sexually Violent Predator ("SVP") Act was set aside after that person's predicate offense was reversed. (Welf. & Inst Code, § 5000, et seq.; See *In re Bevill* (1968) 68 Cal.2d 854.) To deny Petitioner similar treatment is a violation of equal protection. Also, Petitioner's right to due process of law was violated because the court continued his commitment under a statutory scheme only promulgated to treat behavior related to a felony conviction, though there is no longer a felony conviction in Petitioner's case. (See § 2962.)

This Court should hold that a commitment or recommitment as an MDO must be vacated when the foundational offense supporting the initial commitment was redesignated as a misdemeanor under Proposition 47.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about January 17, 2007, Petitioner entered a 7-Eleven convenience store and grabbed cigarettes from behind the counter. (1CT pp. 6, 19; 2CT p. 6.) He told the clerk he was the police and could go anywhere he wanted. (1CT pp. 6, 19; 2CT p. 6.) The clerk grabbed his arm and Petitioner pushed the clerk away. (1CT pp. 6, 19; 2CT p. 6.) The clerk screamed and another clerk responded to help. (1CT p. 19.) Petitioner grabbed some cookies and left the store. (1CT p. 19.) The clerk was not injured. (1CT p. 19.)

Petitioner was arrested, all merchandize was recovered at the scene, and 7-Eleven did not suffer any loss. (1CT p. 13.) When asked about the incident, Petitioner stated: "I was homeless and hungry and not on meds." (2CT p. 6.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Foundational 2007 Felony Offense

On August 3, 2007, Petitioner pled guilty to grand theft of a person, in violation of section 487, subdivision (c), a felony offense at that time, and he was sentenced to state prison for 16 months. (1RT p. 6; 1CT pp. 8, 12; *J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, p 2.)

B. Petitioner's Initial Commitment and Recommitments

After completing his sentence, Petitioner was civilly committed to a state hospital as an MDO and his commitment was extended for several years. (1CT pp. 19, 20; *J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, p. 2.)

In October 2014, Petitioner was released to an outpatient conditional release program ("CONREP") program as an MDO on outpatient status, pursuant to sections 2970 and 2972. (1CT p. 20.) His outpatient status was renewed annually. (*J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, p. 3.)

C. Redesignation of Petitioner's Felony Offense To A Misdemeanor Under Proposition 47

On October 21, 2016, Petitioner filed a Petition for Reduction to Misdemeanor under section 1170.18, subdivisions (f), and (g), to reduce his 2007 felony conviction to a misdemeanor. (2CT p. 25.) The People did not oppose and the court granted the petition on October 27, 2016. (1CT p. 16; 2CT p. 25; *J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, p. 3.)

D. Denial of Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss MDO Commitment

On November 10, 2016, Petitioner filed a Notice of Motion to
Dismiss his MDO Commitment and release him from CONREP. (2A² RT p. 104; 1CT p. 17.) Specifically, Petitioner requested the court "dismiss the request for continued involuntary treatment of a mentally disordered offender (MDO) as his conviction is a misdemeanor and is not a qualifying offense." (1CT p. 17.) Petitioner asserted his conviction was designated a misdemeanor "for all purposes," so the MDO Act did not apply to him.

(1CT p. 21.)

On December 16, 2016, the trial court continued the hearing on the motion pending the decision in *Goodrich*, which would address whether reclassification of a felony to a misdemeanor precludes recommitment under the MDO Act. (3RT p. 67; 1CT p. 67; *Goodrich*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 710.)

On January 17, 2017, Division One of the Fourth Appellate District Court of Appeal filed its decision in *Goodrich*, and held that reduction of the qualifying felony to a misdemeanor did not preclude recommitment under the MDO Act. (*Goodrich*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th 699.) On February 3, 2017, the trial court denied Petitioner's motion citing *Goodrich*. (1CT p.

The two volumes of augmented Reporter's Transcripts are identified as "1ART" and "2ART."

68; Goodrich, supra, 7 Cal.App.5th 699; J.F., supra, D071733, p. 3.)

Petitioner appealed this decision. (1CT pp. 59, 61; J.F., supra, D071733.)

Petitioner remained in commitment under the MDO Act during the appeal.

(4 RT p. 303; 1CT p. 68; 2CT p. 69; J.F., supra, D071733, p. 3.)

E. The Court of Appeal's Affirmance Of The Denial of Petitioner's Motion, Citing *People v. Goodrich*.

On February 27, 2018, the California Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division One, filed an unpublished decision in which it declined to depart from its holding in *Goodrich* and affirmed the San Diego Superior Court's order denying Petitioner's motion. (*J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, p. 2.)

ARGUMENT

I.

PETITIONER'S CONTINUED COMMITMENT UNDER THE MDO ACT WAS INVALID BECAUSE THE COURT REDESIGNATED THE FOUNDATIONAL FELONY A MISDEMEANOR UNDER PROPOSITION 47.

Petitioner contends a commitment under the MDO Act is a collateral effect of the redesignation of a felony offense to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47. Such commitment is invalidated where the foundational felony conviction is lost to Proposition 47 relief. The Court of Appeal and the *Goodrich* court held that Proposition 47 was irrelevant to MDO commitments. (*J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, p. 4; *Goodrich*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 710.) An examination of the provisions of Proposition 47 and the MDO Act, and the intent and purpose behind each enactment, reveals the Court of Appeal and the *Goodrich* court were mistaken.

A. Relevant Law

1. Standard of Review

Issues regarding statutory construction are reviewed de novo. (Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83.) The court looks first "to the language of the statute, giving the words their ordinary meaning." (People v. Rizo (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685.) The language is construed "in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme." (Ibid.) When interpreting a voter initiative, the court applies the same principles that govern statutory construction. (Ibid.)

2. The MDO Act

The Legislature enacted the MDO Act in 1985 to require offenders who have been convicted of violent crimes related to their mental disorders, and who continue to pose a danger to society, to receive mental health treatment until their mental disorder can be kept in remission. (§ 2960 et. seq.; *In re Qawi* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1, 9.) The original purpose of the MDO Act is best described by the Senate Committee on Public Safety in its analysis of the MDO Act when it amended the Act in 1999:

The MDO law was originally drafted in 1985 in SB 1296 (McCorquodale). The author, as quoted in the Assembly Public Safety Committee analysis, stated the reason for the bill:

"There is no useful procedure for assuring mental health treatment for prisoners when their mental disorder was a factor in their committing a violent crime."

The author further explained, as reflected in the Senate Judiciary Committee analysis, that consideration of the crime of conviction was necessary because prediction of an inmate's future dangerousness from his or her mental condition and prison conduct was inordinately difficult.

(Sen. Com. On Pub. Safety, Com. Analysis of Sen. Bill 279 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Mar. 16, 1999, p. 5.)

"The MDO Act establishes a comprehensive scheme for treating prisoners who have severe mental disorders that were a cause or aggravating factor in the commission of the crime for which they were imprisoned." (*People v. Jauregui Garcia* (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 558, 563 (reh'g den. Apr. 5, 2005).) There are three stages of commitment in the

MDO Act: the first is when the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation ("CDCR") and the Department of State Hospitals ("DSH")³ first determine that an offender must be treated by the DSH as a condition of parole; the second occurs when both the parole and treatment are extended; and the third phase occurs when parole is terminated. (§§ 2962, 2970, 2972; *Lopez v. Superior Court* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1055, 1062-1063 [disapproved in part by *People v. Harrison* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1211, 1230, fn. 2 on an unrelated issue].)

In the first phase, the court must find the defendant meets six criteria:

- 1) the offender's severe mental disorder was a cause or aggravating factor in the commission of the underlying crime;
- 2) the offender was treated for at least 90 days preceding his or her release;
- 3) the underlying crime was a violent crime as enumerated in section 2962, subdivision (e);
- 4) the patient has a severe mental disorder,
- 5) the patient's severe mental disorder is not in remission or cannot be kept in remission without treatment, and
- 6) that by reason of his or her severe mental disorder, the patient represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others.

(§ 2962, subd. (d)(1); *Lopez*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 1062, italics added.)

The first three criteria have been characterized as "static" and

"foundational" because "they concern *past events* that, once established, are

DSH was previously named State Department of Mental Health.

incapable of change." (Lopez, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 1056, italics added.)

The last three criteria are often described as "dynamic" because they are

"capable of change over time and must be established at each annual review

of the commitment." (Id. at p. 1062.)

The second phase occurs if the defendant's parole is continued beyond one year and is governed by section 2966, subdivision (c). (§§ 2962, 2966, subd. (c).) The third phase occurs after parole is terminated, and is governed by sections 2970 and 2972. (§§ 2970, 2972.) The third phase requires a petition under section 2972, subdivision (e), and new recommitment proceeding. (§ 2972, subd. (e).) In both the second and third phases, the court conducts a hearing for "continued treatment" to determine whether the person still meets the three "dynamic" criteria for the court to recommit the person for an additional year. (§§ 2970, 2972, subds. (a) & (c); *Lopez*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 1056.) These criteria are the same as the final three "dynamic" criteria listed in section 2962 for the original commitment:

- 1) the patient has a severe mental disorder,
- 2) the patient's severe mental disorder is not in remission or cannot be kept in remission without treatment, and
- 3) that by reason of his or her severe mental disorder, the patient represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others.

(§§ 2962, 2972, subd. (c).) Commitment is not indefinite, rather, "an MDO has a right to be released unless the People prove beyond a reasonable

doubt that he or she should be recommitted for another year." (*People v. McKee* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1172, 1201 ("*McKee II*").)

3. Proposition 47

In 2014, the voters approved initiative measure Proposition 47, titled The Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act, adding section 1170.18 to the Penal Code and amending existing statutes to reduce penalties for certain theft and drug offenses. (Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 47, § 2, at pp. 70-74; *People v. Gonzales* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858, 862.) Section 1170.18 allows qualifying felony offenders to seek reclassification of their offenses to misdemeanors retroactively. (§ 1170.18, subd. (a); *Goodrich*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 704.) A person who has already completed a felony sentence may petition to have his conviction designated a misdemeanor. (§ 1170.18, subds. (f) & (g).)

Proposition 47 expressly states it must be "broadly construed to accomplish its purposes" and "broadly construed to effectuate its purposes." (Guide, *supra*, text of Prop. 47, §§ 15, 18, p. 74; *People v. Bear* (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 490, 498.) And section 1170.18, subdivision (k) extends the retroactive ameliorative effects of Proposition 47 to mitigate future collateral consequences of a felony conviction that is reduced under the measure. (§ 1170.18, subd. (k); *Buycks*, *supra*, 5 Cal.5th at pp. 18, 31.) If a felony conviction is resentenced under Proposition 47 it becomes a misdemeanor "for all purposes." (§ 1170.18, subd. (k).) Subsequently, "it

can no longer be said that the defendant 'was previously convicted of a felony.'" (*Buycks*, 5 Cal.5th at p. 889, quoting *People v. Tenner* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 559, 563.)

4. Principles of Statutory Construction

The court must first look to the text of the statute and use the plain meaning of that text if it is unambiguous. (*People v. Harrison, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 1221.) Such review is used to determine the intent of the Legislature to effectuate the purpose of the law. (*Curle v. Superior Court* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 1057, 1063.) Principles of statutory construction apply equally to voter initiatives and legislatively enacted statutes. (*People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796.) Further, "[a]n enacting body is deemed to be aware of existing laws at the time legislation is enacted and to have enacted or amended a statute in light thereof; this principle applies as well to legislation enacted by voter initiative. (*People v. Superior Court* (*Cervantes*) (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1007, 1015).

B. Petitioner's Continued Commitment Under the MDO Act Without A Foundational Felony Is Invalid In Light Of The Full Statutory Scheme of The MDO Act.

1. The Purpose of the MDO Act

The purpose of the MDO Act is to ensure people who have had violent felony convictions "related to their mental disorders, and who continue to pose a danger to society, receive mental health treatment during and after the termination of their parole until their mental disorder can be

kept in remission." (§ 2960, et seq.; *In re Qawi, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at p. 9.) Notably, the Legislature did not extend the MDO Act to authorize involuntary civil commitment or to continue such commitment without a related violent felony offense. And "a finding of mental illness alone cannot justify a State's locking a person up against his will and keeping him indefinitely in simple custodial care." (*O'Connor v. Donaldson* (1975) 422 U.S. 563, 575 [95 S.Ct. 2486, 45 L.Ed. 2d 396].)

2. The Court Relied On The Flawed Reasoning In *Goodrich* To Justify Petitioner's Continued Commitment Under The MDO Act.

The *Goodrich* court determined that a change to the foundational offense in an MDO commitment is "*irrelevant* after his or her initial commitment as an MDO." (*Goodrich*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 710, italics added.) It reasoned that a court is not required to consider whether the first three foundational criteria were still met at the recommitment hearing. (*Ibid.*) In so doing, the court only looked at section 2972, subdivision (c), which states in relevant part that:

[i]f the court or jury finds that the patient has a severe mental disorder, that the patient's severe mental disorder is not in remission or cannot be kept in remission without treatment, and that by reason of his or her severe mental disorder, the patient represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others, the court shall order the patient recommitted...

(§ 2972, subd. (c).) Because the statute mentioned only these three criteria the *Goodrich* court reasoned the fact that the foundational felony had been

reduced to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 had no effect on the commitment. (*Goodrich*, at p. 710.)

In Petitioner's case, the Court of Appeal derived its reasoning from *Goodrich*. (*J.F.*, *supra*, D071733, pp. 4, 5.) It explained: "[o]nce an individual has been determined to be an MDO and has been properly committed in an initial commitment proceeding the only things that must be established in a recommitment proceeding are [the three criteria listed in section 2972, subdivision (c)]." (*J.F.*, p. 5, citing *Goodrich* at pp. 710-711 and § 2972, subd. (c).) In other words, the Court of Appeal found that it did not need to verify that a recommitment under the MDO Act was related to a violent felony.

The court's reasoning is, however, flawed. It is reading section 2972, subdivision (c), in a vacuum, ignoring the context and other statutory provisions of the MDO Act. And it ignores the Act's purpose of treating those who have committed violent felonies. The language of a statute must be construed "in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme." (*Rizo*, *supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 685.) "Section 2970 does not exist in a statutory vacuum." (§ 2970 [criteria for commitment after parole]; *People v. Crivello* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 612, 617.) Similarly, section 2972 does not exist in a statutory vacuum, either. (§ 2972 [extended commitment criteria].) And the Legislative intent of the MDO Act applies throughout each stage of commitment. (Sen. Com. On Pub.

Safety, Com. Analysis of Sen. Bill 279 (1999-2000 Reg. Sess.) Mar. 16, 1999, p. 5.)

The MDO Act does not permit the government to involuntarily restrain a person for treatment related to a felony offense unless that person has committed a felony offense described by the Act. (But see *People v. Cobb* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 243, 251-252 ("*Cobb*")⁴.) And, "if a defendant cannot be committed under section 2962, based on a failure of proof of the static criteria, he cannot later be recommitted under section 2970." (§ 2962, subds. (b) & (e); *Crivello*, *supra*, 200 Cal.App.4th at p. 617.) Also, "[t]he mental disorder for which extended involuntary treatment is sought must be the same mental disorder for which defendant was treated as a condition of his parole." (*Jauregui Garcia*, *supra*, 127 Cal.App.4th at p. 567.)

Further, a foundational felony conviction signifies there was a judicial determination that the defendant endangered public safety and their own safety as a result of their mental condition. (Cf. *In re Moye* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 457, 462-463 [superseded by the statute, § 1026.5].) Yet what was

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