DEC 1 3 2018

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Deputy

CRC 8.25(b)

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S248046

v.

JEREMY FOSTER,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District Division One, Case No. D071733 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD204096 The Honorable David J. Danielsen, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

2. Under a plain reading of Proposition 47, as recently interpreted in *Buycks* and *C.B.*, the redesignation of an MDO-qualifying felony does not invalidate an MDO recommitment

As the existence of the qualifying felony conviction has no bearing on an MDO's recommitment, so it must be that the redesignation of that felony conviction under Proposition 47 also has no bearing on an MDO's recommitment. This Court recently considered the effect of Proposition 47 upon collateral consequences of a former felony conviction in *People v. Buycks* (2018) 5 Cal.5th 857 and *In re C.B.* (2018) 6 Cal.5th 118, which are instructive here.

In *Buycks*, the Court addressed whether Proposition 47 requires the dismissal of various felony-based enhancements. (*Buycks*, *supra*, 5 Cal.5th 857.) The decision in *Buycks* involved three consolidated cases raising similar issues: *People v. Buycks* (S231765) [on-bail enhancement under section 12022.1, subdivision (b)]; *People v. Valenzuela* (S232900) [prison prior term under section 667.5, subdivision (b)]; and *In re Guiomar* (S238888) [failure to appear under section 1320.5]. (*Buycks*, at p. 871.)

The Court held that "Proposition 47's mandate that the resentenced or redesignated offense 'be considered a misdemeanor for all purposes'... permits defendants to challenge felony based... enhancements when the underlying felonies have been subsequently resentenced or redesignated as misdemeanors." (*Id.* at p. 872.) The Court concluded that Proposition 47 required the dismissal of the two-year sentencing enhancement Buycks had received for committing a felony offense while on bail for an earlier felony offense. (*Id.* at pp. 871, 896.) The Court also reasoned that Buycks's earlier felony offense was redesignated to a misdemeanor and the redesignation of that offense negated an element of the challenged enhancement. (*Id.* at p. 896.)

The Court reached a similar conclusion in the *Valenzuela* case. There, Valenzuela received a one-year sentence enhancement for having served a prior prison term under section 667.5, subdivision (b). (*Buycks*, at p. 871.) The felony underlying Valenzuela's prior-prison-term enhancement was subsequently redesignated to a misdemeanor. (*Ibid.*) The Court concluded that because the reclassified felony conviction underlying the enhancement negated an element required to support the enhancement, it should have been stricken. (*Id.* at p. 896.)

On the other hand, in *Guiomar*, this Court reached the opposite conclusion. There, the defendant received an eight-month enhancement under section 1320.5 for failing to appear on a felony charge, of which he was later convicted. (*Id.* at p. 871.) Following Guiomar's successful Proposition 47 petition, the felony conviction was reduced to a misdemeanor. (*Ibid.*) This Court observed that a failure-to-appear enhancement under section 1320.5 applies to persons "charged with or convicted of the commission of a felony." (§ 1320.5.) Noting that Proposition 47 did not affect Guiomar's status as a person charged with a felony, this Court held that the redesignated offense did not negate the

required elements of the enhancement; thus, the enhancement was properly imposed. (*Id.* at p. 896.)

This Court addressed a similar "collateral consequences" issue in its most recent case addressing Proposition 47. In *C.B.*, the defendants were minors declared wards of the court based on offenses that were felonies when committed, which required that the minors' DNA samples be submitted to the State. (*C.B.*, *supra*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 121.) After the passage of Proposition 47, the minors successfully petitioned for their felony offenses to be reclassified as misdemeanors. (*Id.* at pp. 121, 126.) On appeal, the minors argued that because their reclassified offenses no longer triggered an obligation to submit a DNA sample, the reclassification of their felony offenses to a misdemeanor "for all purposes" entitled them to have their DNA expunged from the DNA databank. (*Id.* at pp. 121, 125.)

This Court rejected their claim and held that the redesignation of the minors' offenses from a felony to a misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18 did not entitle them to have their DNA samples removed from the DNA databank. (*Id.* at p. 128.) This Court concluded that although the redesignation of the offenses meant that the minors no longer had a qualifying offense that required DNA *submission*, the redesignation did not affect the criteria for DNA *expungement*. (*Ibid*, italics added.) As this Court noted, "[o]n the face of the statute, eligibility for expungement is confined to these circumstances[:] . . . (1) charges were either not filed or were dismissed, (2) charges resulted in an acquittal, (3) any conviction was reversed and the case dismissed, or (4) the petitioner was found factually innocent." (*Id.* at pp. 128-129, citing § 299, subd. (b)(1) - (4).)

As this Court explained, because section 299 does not authorize expungement "on the ground that conduct previously deemed a felony is now punished only as a misdemeanor[,]"... "a showing of changed circumstances eliminating a duty to submit a sample is an insufficient basis

for expungement of a sample already submitted." (*Id.* at p. 128, italics omitted." This Court thus concluded that, "redesignation of a category of offenses can terminate the duty to submit samples. But redesignation is largely immaterial to *expungement*, which does not hinge on whether an offense would give rise to a duty to submit were it committed today. There is no inconsistency between treating a redesignated offense as a misdemeanor for all purposes and declining to expunge a previously submitted DNA sample." (*Id.* at p. 129, italics in original.) The Court also held that applying Proposition 47 to allow DNA expungement would not advance the enactment's purpose of reducing punishment for certain crimes because the retention of DNA samples is not punishment. (*Id.* at p. 131.)

Like the bail jumping enhancement in *Guiomar* and the DNA expungement statute in *C.B.*, the recommitment of an MDO remains valid because it is not a based upon the existence of a felony conviction. Indeed, recommitment under the MDO Act focuses on continuing treatment of persons who have already received initial MDO treatment while on parole but, nevertheless, continue to suffer from severe mental disorders. As the purpose of the MDO recommitment is to provide dangerous patients with continuing mental healthcare, recommitment does not require the existence of any felony conviction. (See *Cobb*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 252 [the three static criteria "are relevant only to the initial certification"].) Thus, as the qualifying felony is not necessary to support MDO recommitment, under *Buycks* and *C.B.*, the redesignation of the initially qualifying felony to a misdemeanor does not require the dismissal of the MDO's recommitment.

Lower court authority is in accord. In *Goodrich*, which the superior court relied on in this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal addressed the precise issue here: whether the redesignation of a qualifying offense to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47 precludes recommitment as an MDO. (*Goodrich*, *supra*, 7 Cal.App.5th at pp. 705-706.) The defendant in

Goodrich was convicted of felony grand theft, initially committed as an MDO in 2008, repeatedly recommitted every year thereafter, and, in 2015, successfully petitioned to redesignate his qualifying felony conviction to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18, subdivision (a). (Id. at p. 705.) The Goodrich court compared the requisite criteria for the initial MDO commitment to that of recommitment. Unlike in an initial commitment proceeding, "there is no requirement that the People present evidence to establish the existence of the three "static" criteria . . . at a recommitment proceeding." (Id. at p. 711.) Thus, because the defendant's foundational felony was not an element of his recommitment, "[his] current commitment is not predicated upon his felony conviction rather, it is predicated on his current mental state and dangerousness." (Ibid.) Accordingly, the Goodrich court rejected the defendant's argument that, in light of the redesignation of his felony theft conviction, his 2015 recommitment was improper. (Goodrich, supra, 7 Cal.App.5th at pp. 709-710.)

Nonetheless, appellant maintains that because his qualifying felony was reduced, it could no longer support his recommitment, likening his circumstance to cases in which an SVP's qualifying felony was invalidated. (OBM 32.) The cases appellant relies upon generally stand for the proposition that a qualifying offense that has been subsequently deemed to be invalid at the outset cannot support a civil committee's commitment or recommitment. That situation is not comparable to an MDO recommittee because SVP commitments involve a materially different commitment scheme. An SVP is committed once, for an indeterminate period of time, and the qualifying felony is required for this commitment. By contrast, an MDO is initially committed for a period of one year and a qualifying offense is required to support the initial commitment; however, an MDO may be recommitted annually and the recommitment does not require a felony conviction.

In *In re Smith* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1251, 1254 (*Smith*), this Court held that the defendant's SVP commitment was unauthorized after his qualifying felony conviction was reversed on appeal. There, after the defendant's qualifying sexually violent offense was reversed, the People chose not to retry him, but proceeded with their pending SVP petition against the defendant. (*Id.* at pp. 1255-1256.) Unlike MDO recommitment, SVP commitment requires a qualifying felony conviction. The *Smith* court held that because a qualifying offense is required for commitment as an SVP, the reversal of the qualifying offense invalidates any pending commitment. (*Id.* at pp. 1268-1270.) In the instant case, on the other hand, appellant's MDO recommitment does not require a qualifying felony conviction. As the SVP commitment requires a felony conviction but MDO recommitment does not, the *Smith* case is materially distinguishable.

Similarly, in *In re Franklin* (2008) 169 Cal.App.4th 386, 389 (*Franklin*), the defendant's felony conviction was reversed for insufficient evidence. Because the evidentiary failure pertained only to the element that made the crime a felony instead of a misdemeanor (the value of the property), the Court of Appeal reduced the conviction to a lesser included misdemeanor offense, and the defendant was released. (*Ibid.*) The offender was subsequently committed as an SVP based on the conviction that already had been reversed and was classified as a misdemeanor. (*Id.* at pp. 389-390, 392.) As the court explained, because the defendant was a misdemeanant at the time the prosecutor filed the SVP petition and because the defendant was no longer in custody on a felony conviction at the time the prosecutor filed the SVP petition, "the absence of the statutory condition precedent to lawful SVP civil commitment proceedings against him is a fatal flaw." (*Id.* at p. 392.) Like in *Smith*, because Franklin's SVP commitment required a qualifying felony, it could not be based on a

misdemeanor offense. Appellant's MDO recommitment has no such requirement.

These cases only recognized that the statutory provisions of SVP commitment require a qualifying felony offense. Appellant's reliance on these cases is misplaced because unlike under the MDO Act, there is only one initial and indeterminate commitment period under the SVP Act. As explained above, this distinction—that the SVP Act does not provide for any recommitment but the MDO Act does—is material. MDO recommitment, unlike SVP initial commitment, does not require a felony conviction. Because this is so, the reduction of a qualifying felony offense to a misdemeanor must affect SVP commitment but does not affect MDO recommitment. Essentially, Smith and Franklin echo the principle applied in Buycks and weaken rather than support appellant's claim. Because the SVPs' qualifying offenses were an element of their commitment and, by virtue of the reversal of this offense, were legally invalid to support their commitment, their commitments were properly dismissed. By contrast, in appellant's case, his qualifying felony, though reduced to a misdemeanor, had no effect on his already-completed initial commitment, and was not an element of his recommitment.

3. The release of redesignated MDOs, who by definition pose a "substantial danger of physical harm to others," would subvert the purpose of Proposition 47 which is to reduce penalties for nonserious and nonviolent offenders

To the extent there is any ambiguity about the operation of the plain terms of the MDO Act and Proposition 47 in this context, the purpose and intent of each enactment shows that an MDO recommitment remains valid even after a Proposition 47 reduction of the initially qualifying felony.

First, it bears noting that section 2962 does not actually require that the MDO be convicted of a "felony." Rather, the section provides that an

individual can be committed as an MDO if that person was a prisoner, committed an enumerated offense, was sentenced to a determinate sentence under section 1170, and was placed on parole. (See § 2962, subds. (a)(1) and (b) [requiring that an MDO have a severe mental disorder that caused or was an aggravating factor in "the commission of a crime for which the prisoner was sentenced to prison"].) Section 2962 enumerates a number of required qualifying felony offenses, but it does not refer to the enumerated offenses as a "felonies." 5 Section 2962 also states that an MDO-qualifying offense can be any crime in which the prisoner used threats, force, violence, or caused great bodily injury. (§ 2962, subds. (e)(2)(P) & (Q).) Notably, this catchall qualifying offense provisions under which appellant was committed, subsection (P), does not specify that the offense must be a felony. Rather, the required offense is generally described as a "crime." (§ 2962, subd. (e)(2)(P).) It is true that only a felony can result in a prison sentence. (§ 17, subd. (a).) Yet the drafters chose to refer to the qualifying offense as a crime that resulted in a prison sentence, rather than a felony. By its express terms, the provision defines a qualifying offense not by its classification (i.e. felony or misdemeanor), but by its nature (i.e. use of force or violence, resulting prison sentence). This suggests that the Legislature did not consider the particular classification of the offense to be of special significance, even as to the initial MDO commitment.

Second, MDOs do not fit within the class of offenders the voters intended Proposition 47 to relieve. The express purpose of Proposition 47 is to "reduce the number of nonviolent offenders in state prisons" and reduce penalties for certain nonserious and nonviolent offenders. (*People*

⁵ Subdivision (e)(2)(M) of section 2962 is the only provision that defines its qualifying offense as "[a]ny felony in which the defendant used a firearm[.]"

v. Gonzales (2017) 2 Cal.5th 858, 569- 870.) Proposition 47 was intended to benefit offenders who are "not likely to pose a danger of physical harm to others." (Goodrich, supra, 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 711.) By stark contrast, an MDO is defined as a person who not only has a severe mental disorder, but who continues to represent a "substantial danger of physical harm" to others.⁶ The electorate intended for Proposition 47 to release certain nondangerous offenders from prison; it did not intend that Proposition 47 would release from a state hospital mentally disordered patients who pose a "substantial" risk of harm to others.

Third, and finally, MDO commitment is not a punitive measure or collateral consequence warranting ameliorative relief under Proposition 47. Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have consistently acknowledged the civil and nonpunitive nature of MDO commitments. Pointing to the legislative findings expressed in section 2960, which identifies the goals of the MDO Act as treating offenders and protecting the public, this Court has specifically found that the MDO Act is not punitive or penal in nature. (*In re Qwai* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1, 9; *Lopez*, *supra*, 50

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